CASE NO. 85,856

DONNA CERNIGLIA,

Petitioner,

vs.

JOSEPH M. CERNIGLIA, JR.,

Respondent.

An appeal taken from the District Court, Third District, No. 94-755

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Paul C. Huck, Esq. Harley S. Tropin, Esq. KOZYAK TROPIN THROCKMORTON & HUMPHREYS, P.A. 2850 First Union Financial Ctr. 200 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131-2335 Attorneys for Petitioner

LAW OFFICES KOZYAK TROPIN & THROCKMORTON, P.A.

INTRODUCTION

This petition arises from two consolidated cases, a dissolution of marriage case ("dissolution case"), and an independent action to recover damages for torts and breach of contract and to set aside the marital settlement agreement ("assault case"). The Petitioner, Donna Cerniglia, who was the respondent in the dissolution case, and the plaintiff in the assault case, will be referred to as Petitioner or former wife. The Respondent, Joseph M. Cerniglia, Jr., will be referred to as Respondent or former husband.

"R" refers to the record on appeal, "A" refers to the Appendix, and "T" refers to the transcript of the final hearing in the dissolution case. Emphasis is supplied by counsel unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Third District Court held that former husband's violent battering of and threatening further physical harm to former wife, which extorted a totally one-sided, uncontested marital settlement agreement could not, as a matter of law, constitute "extrinsic fraud" such as would permit former wife to set aside the marital settlement agreement more than a year after final judgment. In doing so, the Third District Court certified a conflict with Lamb v. Leiter, 603 So.2d 632 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), another marital settlement agreement case with far less compelling facts than those presented here. (A. 34)

1

LAW OFFICES KOZYAK TROPIN & THROCKMORTON, P.A.

Former wife also asks this Court to exercise its ancillary jurisdiction to review the Third District Court's affirming that aspect of the summary judgment which held that the release language contained in the Marital Settlement Agreement, as a matter of law, released former wife's independent claims for tort and breach of contract.

Former husband filed the dissolution case in 1990. (R. 2-4) An uncontested final judgment incorporating a Marital Settlement Agreement was entered in that case on August 20, 1990. (R. 8-21)

In 1993, former wife brought the five count assault case as a result of tragic events arising out of her twenty year marriage. Counts I through IV were damage claims for assaults and batteries, intentional infliction of emotional distress, common-law fraud and breach of contract. Count V was an independent action to set aside the Marital Settlement Agreement ("Agreement"). (R. 25-33)

Contemporaneously, former wife filed a Motion for Relief under Rule 1.540(b) in the dissolution action. The underlying facts supporting that Motion and Count V were former husband's illegal and reprehensible acts described in Counts I through IV in the assault case. (R. 22-23)

The record below established that during their marriage, former husband battered and threatened further physical harm if former wife did not do as he demanded. For one example, former husband threatened to cut her face with a knife so that she

2

LAW OFFICES KOZYAK TROPIN & THROCKMORTON, P.A.

would be so scarred that no one would ever want to look at her Former husband's violent abuse reached a again. (A. 1, R. 79) that former wife could no longer physically, point psychologically or emotionally endure it. She sought marriage counseling, in which former husband refused to participate. In fact, he demanded of both former wife and her counselor that they stop former wife's counseling (A. 1-2, R. 79-80). Having reached the breaking point, she advised her former husband that she had to get away from him. (A. 2, R. 80)

As a result of former wife's attempts to discuss the financial aspects of their dissolution with him, former husband continued to physically assault and batter her; threaten her on numerous occasions with physical harm and telling her that she would get nothing if she fought him on those financial matters. (A. 2, R. 80)

Former husband also threatened to destroy the family business, by far the largest marital asset and only source of income. As a result of his violence, domination and extortion,¹ former wife realized that she must do as he said and submissively abandon her rights in the dissolution proceedings. (A. 2, R. 80)

In addition to his physical violence and threats, former husband told former wife that if she did not fight him in court

3

LAW OFFICES KOZYAK TROPIN & THROCKMORTON, P.A.

¹ Criminal extortion includes maliciously threatening injury to a person or her property with the intent to extort any pecuniary advantage or to have that person act or refrain from acting against her will. <u>Fla. Stat.</u> §936.05 (1993)

over the financial matters, he would provide for her certain financial assistance outside of the Agreement. Of course, former husband has not provided any. (A. 3, R. 81)

Former wife's attorney (then attorney, now the Honorable Eleanor Schockett) was unable to meaningfully represent her in the dissolution proceedings. Fearing her former husband and what he would do if she dared resist him in those proceedings, former wife was unable and unwilling to provide her attorney with any assistance whatsoever and could not follow her attorney's advice. Attorney Schockett was so upset and shocked by former wife's seemingly unexplainable desire "to commit financial suicide" and refusal to act in any rational way on her own behalf that attorney Schockett wrote a most revealing letter to former wife. Attorney Schockett's letter accurately reflects what occurred with regard to her unsuccessful attempts to assist former wife in the dissolution proceedings. (A. 2, 6-7, R. 80, 84-85) Attorney Schockett wrote that the proposed Agreement was so "horrendous" and "monstrous" that she did "not want [her] associated with it" and that former husband name was "reprehensible for even making the demand that [former wife] sign it." (A. 6-7, R. 84-85) Attorney Schockett was absolutely right! After a twenty year marriage, the Agreement provided for no alimony to a housewife who had not worked outside the home and gave former husband one hundred percent of the only meaningful marital assets: their marital home and the family

4

LAW OFFICES KOZYAK TROPIN & THROCKMORTON, P.A.

business, which business attorney Schockett valued at \$1,000,000.00 or higher. (A. 4, 6-7, R. 10-21, 82, 84-85)

But for the beatings and threats by her then husband, former wife would not have signed that "horrendous" Agreement. (A. 3, R. 81) Instead, she would have either permitted her attorney to negotiate a fair settlement or litigate her rights in a contested hearing. However, because of former wife's fear, which had devastated her, both physically and emotionally (her weight was down to a mere 98 pounds and she was experiencing other physical symptoms) she concluded that she could not chance a dispute with former husband. Former wife was so traumatized by her former husband's violence and extortion, that she simply caved in as former husband orchestrated the dissolution proceedings. (A. 3, R. 81)

The Final Judgment Dissolving The Marriage states that the Agreement "was executed voluntarily after full disclosure." The record below reflects that that was not true. (R. 8, 79-83) For the reasons described above, former wife did not and could not voluntarily execute the Agreement. (A. 3-4, R. 81-82) The true circumstances which led to the Agreement were fraudulently hidden from the trial court and the attorneys. (R. 82, T. 1-8)

No discovery, no hearing, no other action occurred in the dissolution case except the uncontested final hearing at which the Agreement was submitted to the Court. (R. 2-21) While former wife submissively stated at that hearing that she was satisfied with the Agreement, because of the former husband's

5

criminal and violent acts, which were kept from the trial court and the attorneys, that statement was untrue. Former wife dared not reveal the extortion behind the charade. (R. 79-85, T. 4-6) Thus, in the face of this false pretense, the Agreement was incorporated into the final judgement. (R. 8-9, T. 4-6)

Three years after that final judgment former wife brought her assault case. She seeks 1) damages for the assaults and batteries, fraud and breach of contract committed by her former husband; and 2) the rescission of the Agreement fraudulently obtained so that her marital rights can be determined through a real, not bogus, proceeding. (R. 25-33) Former wife also filed a separate motion for relief from the final judgment under Rule 1.540(b) in the dissolution case. (R. 22-23) The assault and dissolution cases were consolidated. (R. 166) Former husband moved for summary judgment. (R. 61-67)

The trial court determined, as a matter of law, that former husband's acts, which it described as "outrageous, reprehensible, dastardly, inexcusable and unacceptable," constituted merely intrinsic, as opposed to extrinsic fraud. Therefore, former wife was required to bring her independent action to set aside the Agreement and her Rule 1.540 (b) motion for relief within one year. (A. 23, R. 215-18)

The trial court also determined, as a matter of law, that all of former wife's tort and breach of contract claims, including claims accruing after the judgment, were barred by the release language in the Marital Settlement Agreement even though

6

LAW OFFICES KOZYAK TROPIN & THROCKMORTON, P.A.

admittedly such claims were not mentioned in the release (A 4-5, 25, R. 218-19) and, as shown by former wife's uncontroverted affidavit, not intended to be released. (A 25, R. 82)

The Third District affirmed the summary judgment. Without specifically describing former husband's physical and mental abuse, admittedly occurring outside the dissolution proceedings, or how that abuse extorted former wife, it felt constrained to hold that former husband's conduct constituted merely intrinsic not the extrinsic fraud. In doing so, the Third District Court strayed from the extrinsic versus intrinsic guidelines laid down in <u>DeClaire v. Yohanan</u>, 453 So.2d 374 (Fla. 1984) and is in direct conflict with <u>Lamb v. Leiter</u>, and other pertinent precedents.

In holding, as a matter of law, that claims not specified in and not intended to be affected by the release language contained in the Marital Settlement Agreement were released, the Third District Court ignored generally accepted principles of release language interpretation.

Its opinion should, therefore, be quashed.

Summary of Argument

<u>Point I</u>

The record below established that former husband's physical violence, false promises, and extortion, including threats of disfigurement, actually "prevent[ed former wife] from trying the issue" of her marital rights in the dissolution case. His

7

LAW OFFICES KOZYAK TROPIN & THROCKMORTON, P.A.

conduct was "collateral to the issues tried in [that] case." Therefore, former husband's conduct constituted extrinsic fraud, a basis for obtaining relief from the final judgment more than a year later. <u>DeClaire</u>. However, in granting summary judgment, the trial court determined, as a matter of law, that former husband's acts, though "dastardly" and "reprehensible", were merely intrinsic, not extrinsic, fraud and therefore former wife's action to set aside the marital agreement was brought too late.

In affirming, the Third District Court failed to apply the guidelines established by this Court in <u>DeClaire</u>. Those guidelines teach that extrinsic fraud may be any number of wrongful acts which are collateral to the issues tried in a case and which prevent a party from fully exhibiting his or her case so that there has never been a real contest in the hearing of the case. Measured by that standard, former husband's vicious attacks and threats of reprisal if former wife dared assert her rights in court, together with false promises of financial assistance outside the Agreement, certainly meet the extrinsic fraud standard.

The trial court erroneously concluded that physical violence, extortion and fraud, regardless of their character and their effect on a spouse, may never constitute extrinsic fraud. The trial court, in determining as a matter of law that former husband's violent assaults, extortion and fraud were not collateral to the dissolution issues to be tried and could not

8

LAW OFFICES KOZYAK TROPIN & THROCKMORTON, P.A.

have prevented former wife from truly participating in those proceedings thereby "committing financial suicide," ignored former wife's uncontroverted testimony and strayed outside the <u>DeClaire</u> guidelines.

The concept of extrinsic fraud, as explained by <u>DeClaire</u>, clearly encompasses former husband's "dastardly" and effective conduct. The former husband should not be permitted to prevent former wife for having her day in court by his extortion.

<u>Point II</u>

The trial court, contrary to generally accepted rules for construing releases and to the uncontroverted testimony, held as a matter of law that the release contained in the Marital Settlement Agreement bars former wife's independent tort and contract claims, even though those claims were neither raised in the dissolution proceedings nor mentioned in the Agreement.

The construction accorded a release depends on the release's purpose, it's terms and the subject matter to which it applies. Here the courts below ignored the obvious purpose and context of the release, that is, simply the settlement of the parties' alimony and marital property rights arising in a dissolution proceeding.

The intent of the release must be derived from the whole of the Agreement not isolated, detached language. Here the trial court focused on an incomplete sentence from the Agreement rather than the complete sentence and the context in which that

9

LAW OFFICES KOZYAK TROPIN & THROCKMORTON, P.A.

incomplete phrase is found. In support of its ruling the trial court noted that: "...the Agreement speaks of settlement of `...all claims of any nature whatsoever that each may have against the other,... (Par. 12)'" (A. 26, R. 219) Yet, that partial sentence is sandwiched between more indicative and limiting language which states:

> "This Agreement constitutes full and complete settlement of <u>alimony</u>, <u>support</u>, <u>equitable</u> <u>distribution</u> and <u>property</u> <u>rights</u>...and claims of any nature whatsoever that each may have against the other, and all of the terms and provisions herein being interrelated and dependant covenants and that such constitutes a complete <u>Property</u> Settlement Agreement." (A. 17-18, R. 17-18)

Moreover, the paragraph 12 excerpt quoted by the trial court is not even in the release. The actual release, paragraph 18, certainly is consistent with an intent to settle only marital property claims. The release states that the parties merely:

> "renounce[d] and relinquish[ed] all claims of whatever nature each may have had in or to any assets/property or estate of whatever kind, now or hereafter owned or possessed by the other, it being the intention of the parties hereto that this paragraph shall constitute a complete, general and mutual release of all claims whatsoever including dower, courtesy [sic], distributive share of which either may have in the estate of the other." (A. 19, R. 19)

The trial court also ignored the defining statements in the Agreement's whereas clauses which outline the parties' limited

10

LAW OFFICES KOZYAK TROPIN & THROCKMORTON, P.A. 2800 FIRST UNION FINANCIAL CENTER, 200 SOUTH BISCAYNE BOULEVARD, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33131 • TEL. (305) 372-1800

intent and "...desire to settle, adjust and compromise all financial and property rights between [them]..." and to "further their desire to fully settle all matters between them relating to alimony, property rights, equitable distribution, separation and the alike". (A. 11, R. 10-11). Furthermore, the Agreement not only refers to just marital rights but arises out of a dissolution proceeding where only marital property rights issues, not independent tort and contract claims, were raised. In construing the release, the trial court did not consider these factors. As a result, the trial court violated established principles of release construction: 1) if an ambiguity consists of broad release language which could be interpreted to cover claims of every sort, the release should be confined to the purposes intended by the parties as reflected by the whole of the agreement and circumstances; 2) broad, general release language should be disregarded when it is inconsistent with the nature of the Agreement, with particular recitals and with the transaction to which it refers.

The trial court acknowledged that "neither tort nor contract rights were mentioned in the Agreement, only 'property rights', 'equitable distribution', 'dower', 'courtesy [sic]', etc." However, it side-stepped that obvious gap by attempting to rationalize away the absence of any mention of the tort and contract claims with the suggestion that such claims "could skew

11

LAW OFFICES KOZYAK TROPIN & THROCKMORTON, P.A.

any equitable distribution or even alimony award"² (A. 25-26, R. 218-19) In doing so, the trial court judicially rewrote the Agreement and ignored standard rules that: 1) any ambiguity in a release will be resolved against a waiver of the right involved and 2) parties will not be considered as having waived a claim unless it is expressly waived, particularly where, as here, there exist more than one distinct claim.

Finally, the trial court failed to even consider former wife's uncontroverted affidavit which confirmed that the Marital Settlement Agreement was limited to distribution of marital assets, that there was never any indication by anyone that the release was intended to include any tort or contract claim and that the release did not and was not intended to release those claims. Former husband filed no opposing affidavit.

<u>Point III</u>

In addition to the above reasons explaining why former wife's unmentioned claims were not released, two of former wife's claims, the fraud and breach of contract claims, arose well after the execution of the Agreement. The release mentions only existing, not future claims. Therefore, those claims were not intended to be released because they didn't even exist.

² Of course, in the instant case there was neither an <u>equitable</u> distribution nor an alimony award.

12

LAW OFFICES KOZYAK TROPIN & THROCKMORTON, P.A.

I.

FORMER HUSBAND'S VIOLENT ACTS, EXTORTION AND FRAUD COMMITTED AGAINST WIFE WHICH PREVENTED HER FROM PRESENTING HER CLAIM TO ALIMONY AND MARITAL PROPERTY IN THE DISSOLUTION PROCEEDINGS CONSTITUTES EXTRINSIC RATHER THAN INTRINSIC FRAUD

In order to set aside or modify the Agreement more than one year after the final judgment, former wife must establish that former husband's wrongful conduct constituted "extrinsic fraud." Any valid analysis of the extrinsic fraud versus intrinsic fraud distinction must begin with this Court's in-depth and bench mark opinion in <u>DeClaire v. Yohanan</u>, 453 So.2d 375 (Fla. 1984):

At the outset we must distinguish between extrinsic fraud and intrinsic fraud because only extrinsic fraud may constitute fraud on the court. <u>Extrinsic fraud</u> <u>involves conduct which is collateral to the issues</u> <u>tried in a case</u>. The definition of extrinsic fraud was specifically articulated in the United States v. Throckmorton, 98 U.S. 61, 65-66, 25 L.Ed. 93 (1878), in which the United States Supreme Court said:

Where the unsuccessful party has been prevented from exhibiting fully his case, by fraud or deception practiced on him by his opponent, as by keeping him away from court, a false promise of a compromise; or where the defendant never has knowledge of the suit, being kept in ignorance by the acts of plaintiff; or where an attorney the fraudulently or without authority assumes to represent a party and connives at his defeat; or where the attorney regularly employed corruptly seals out his client's interest to the other side-these, and similar cases which show that there has never been a real contest in the trial or hearing of the case, are reasons for which a new suit may be sustained to set aside and annul the former judgment or decree, and

open the case for a new and fair hearing. (citations omitted)

Consistent with the general rule, this Court has defined extrinsic fraud as the

prevention of an unsuccessful party [from] presenting his case, by fraud or deception practiced by his adversary; keeping the opponent away from court; falsely promising a compromise; ignorance of the adversary about the existence of the suit or the acts of the plaintiff; fraudulent representation of a party without his consent and connivance in his defeat; and so on.

Fair v. Tampa Electric Co., 1158 Fla. 15, 18, 27 So.2d 514, 515 (1946). See Blacks' Law Dictionary 595 (rev. 5th ed. 1979). In other words, extrinsic fraud occurs where a defendant has somehow been prevented from participating in a cause.

Intrinsic fraud, on the other hand, applies to fraudulent conduct that arises within a proceeding and pertains to the issues in the case that have been tried or could have been tried. This court, consistent with the general rule, has expressly held that false testimony given in a proceedings is intrinsic fraud. We have stated that

[i]f a judgment was obtained upon false testimony or a fraudulent instrument and the parties were heard, the evidence submitted to and received consideration by the court, then it may be said that the matter has been actually tried, or was so in issue that it might have been tried and the parties are estopped to set up an intrinsic or direct fraud to vitiate the judgment, because the judgment is the highest evidence and cannot be contradicted by the parties to it...

Determining the conduct that constitutes intrinsic fraud, which requires action under the rule within one year of the entry of a final judgment, and the conduct that constitutes extrinsic fraud, for which an action may be brought at any time, is the critical issue in the instant case. The cases distinguish between false and misleading information being presented on an issue to be tried and conduct which prevents a party from trying the issue. When an issue is before a court for resolution, and the complaining party could have

addressed the issue in the proceeding, such as attacking the false testimony or misrepresentation through cross examination and other evidence, then the improper conduct, even though it may be perjury, is intrinsic fraud and an attack on a final judgment based on such fraud must be made within one year of the entry of the judgment"

DeClaire, 453 So.2d at 376-77, 380.

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