FILED
SID J. WHITE
JUL 81 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By Clerk

CASE NO. 85, 856

DONNA CERNIGLIA,

Petitioner.

VS.

JOSEPH M. CERNIGLIA, JR.,

Respondent.

ON CERTIORARI FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Grand Bay Plaza, Suite I204
2665 South Bayshore Drive
Miami, Florida 33I33
-andSam Daniels, Esq.
Robert F. Kohlman, Esq.
A.J. BARRANCO & ASSOCIATES
1400 Museum Tower
150 W. Flagler Street
Miami, Florida 33I30
Attorneys for Appellee.

BLUESTEIN AND WAYNE, P.A.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner presents the case in a false light. Petitioner's claims of abuse, threats, duress, etc., are just that—<u>claims</u> which have been denied under oath by Respondent. At issue is whether said claims can be litigated three years and three months later to vacate a final judgment in a divorce case.

The Court is asked to hold that there is no time limit for vacating "final" judgments on the grounds of duress, coercion and fraud. No reason suggests itself as to why this should be done. Ordinary rules regarding res judicata and finality of judgments should preclude any claim that the Marital Settlement Agreement was not freely and voluntarily signed. The voluntariness issue was raised at the final hearing in the divorce case and the trial court did just what the wife asked. Beyond that, the one-year period is clearly ample for the raising of such claims. The label "extrinsic fraud" does not encompass the "voluntariness" issue, which the courts determine in every case involving a marital settlement agreement.

The trial court also was correct in holding that the parties' mutual general release barred the Petitioner's tort claims. Certainly, that ruling was not "clearly erroneous." Had Petitioner wished to reserve any claims, it would have been a simple matter to draft an agreement so stating.

There was no holding below that the release barred unmatured claims. Petitioner's claim that additional oral promises were made is barred by the parol evidence rule. The fraud in the inducement claim based on the same supposed promises was barred since it was a claim of intrinsic fraud raised two years and three months too late.

ARGUMENT

For the reasons which follow, it is respectfully submitted that the Court should either decline jurisdiction or approve the decision below:

A. The Courts Below Correctly Held That The Allegations of Coercion, Duress and Fraud Constituted Intrinsic Fraud.

In *DeClaire v. Yohanan*, 453 So. 2d 375 (Fla. 1984), this Court cited with approval the Third District's decision in *August v. August*, 350 So. 2d 794 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977). *August* held that a motion to vacate a final judgment on the grounds of "undue influence, duress and fraudulent concealment of assets" had to be brought within one year after the judgment was entered. In two subsequent decisions, the Third District cited *Declaire* in holding that "fraud, duress, coercion and failure to provide full disclosure" constitute intrinsic fraud that must be raised within one year after entry of the judgment. *Susskind v. Susskind*, 475 So. 2d 1276 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985), *rev. denied*, 488 So. 2d 832 (Fla. 1986); *Langer v. Langer*, 463 So. 2d 429 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985).

In addition, the Third and First District have both held that threats, coercion, and duress constitute "other misconduct of an adverse party" that will warrant vacation of a prior judgment if a motion to vacate is filed under Rule I.540(b)(3) within the one-year period. Rowell v. Rowell, 432 So. 2d 762 (Fla. Ist DCA 1983); Paris v. Paris, 412 So. 2d 952 (Fla. Ist DCA 1982); Bakshandeh v Bakshandeh, 370 So. 2d 417 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979).

Like the Third District in this case, the trial court below wrote an opinon relying on DeClaire. In this regard, the trial court said that in DeClaire: Intrinsic was defined as covering conduct that "... arises within a proceeding and pertains to the issues in the case that have been tried or could have been tried." The Court quoted from Johnson v. Wells, 72 Fla. 290, 299, 73 So. 188, 191 (1916) as:

[i]f a Judgment was obtained upon false testimony or a fraudulent instrument and the parties were heard, the evidence submitted to and received consideration by the Court, then it may be said that the matter has been actually tried, or was so in issue that it might have been tried and the parties are estopped to set up an intrinsic or direct fraud to vitiate the Judgment, because the Judgment is the highest evidence and cannot be contradicted by the parties to it.

Herein, everything which is now alleged <u>was</u> tried and both parties were heard on the issues of voluntariness, lack of duress or threat, and full disclosure. To now permit a collateral attack, 3 years and 3 months post judgment, would be opposite to ensuring the finality of judgments. (Footnote omitted, emphasis the court's).

All of the allegations could and should have been raised in an attack on the Judgment within one year under R.C.P. 1.540(b). classic examples of fraud. Thev are all misrepresentation by one spouse to get a favorable agreement from the other. Certainly the Wife's then counsel was aware of the inequities. She so stated on the record her refusal to participate and that the client was agreeing against her specific advice. However, the Wife insisted on proceeding and clearly established her voluntariness. acceptance. and comprehension of what was occurring. (R.217-218).

It should be noted that Petitioner did not allege that Respondent's supposed misconduct deprived her of her own free will after August of 1990, when the final hearing was held and when the Final Judgment was entered. Nor did Petitioner allege either threats by the husband, or that she was deprived of her free will during the first or second year after the divorce. All that was alleged was that she was deprived of her free will when she signed the

Marital Settlement Agreement on July II, 1990. No explanation was offered as to why the wife did not move within a year of the final judgment to set it aside under Rule I.540(b)(3) for "other misconduct of an adverse party."

As the Court stated in DeClaire:

Public policy has always favored the termination of litigation after a party has had an opportunity for a trial and an appeal of the trial court's judgment. Consequently, the grounds upon which a final judgment may be set aside, other than by appeal, are limited in order to allow the parties and the public to rely on duly entered final judgments. Rule I.540(b) broadened the grounds upon which final judgments may be attacked but we do not find it appropriate to further broaden these grounds by decision of this court. If there is to be any change, it should be achieved through the rule-making process.

DeClaire, 453 So. 2d at 380-81. For the above reasons, we believe that Lamb v. Leiter, 603 So. 2d 632 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), was incorrectly decided. In addition, Lamb is not on point because the "voluntary signing" issue was not raised and decided below, as it was in this case. For the same reason, Gordon v. Gordon, 625 So. 2d 59 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), is not on point. Extortion was claimed in Gordon and that issue was neither raised nor decided in the original divorce proceeding in this case.

This is a case where a grown woman told a trial judge what she wanted and it was both ordered and obtained for more than three years. Her request for "more" should, it is respectfully submitted, be denied just as the trial judge and the Third District have now so ordered.

Without question, Petitioner got \$50,000 payments in 1990, I99I and I992 and did not claim duress, etc., until November of I993.

B. <u>Courts Below Properly Found and Held That The Tort Claims Were Released In The Marital Settlement Agreement.</u>

The starting point in addressing the release issue is that appellate courts "have a duty to affirm the trial court's construction of the agreement unless such construction is clearly erroneous." *Barry Cook Ford, Inc. v. Ford Motor Company*, 6l6 So. 2d 5l2, 518 (Fla. Ist DCA 1993). *Accord Helie v. Wickersham*, 137 So. 226 (Fla. 1931); *Taines v. Taines*, 427 So. 2d 334 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); *Liza Danielle, Inc. v. Jamko, Inc.*, 408 So. 2d 735 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982).

The trial court construed the language of the Marital Settlement Agreement as a mutual release of all claims, including tort claims (R.2l8-2l9), and the Third District has affirmed that finding. We have quoted the relevant provisions of the Agreement, supra, pp. 5-7. We would simply point out that paragraph 12 provides:

12. FULL AGREEMENT: This Agreement constitutes a full and complete settlement of the alimony, support, equitable distribution and property rights of the parties and claims of any nature whatsoever that each may have against the other, and all of the terms and provisions herein being interrelated and dependent covenants and that such constituting a complete Property Settlement Agreement. No oral or prior written matters extraneous to this Agreement shall have any force or effect whatsoever and the parties represent that no representations have been made by each to the other except as incorporated in this Agreement. No addendum, modification or waiver of any of the terms of this Agreement shall be effective unless in writing, signed by both parties. (R.17-I8).

Likewise, Paragraph 18 provides:

18. <u>RELEASE OF ALL CLAIMS</u>: The Husband and Wife mutually forever renounce and relinquish <u>all claims of whatever nature each may have had in or to any assets/ property or estate of whatever kind</u>, now or hereafter owned or possessed by the other, it being the intention of the parties hereto that this

paragraph shall constitute a complete, general and mutual release of all claims whatsoever including downer, courtesy, distributive share of which either may have in the state of the other excepting as set forth herein. (R.I9).

There is simply no fair reading of the agreement which reserves any claim of any kind that either party had against the other. Petitioner's affidavit stating she did not intend to release all her claims (R.82-83) means nothing since she signed a release of "all claims of any nature whatsoever that each may have against the other." (R.5I,53). In *Bellefonte Ins. Co. v. Queen*, 43I So. 2d I039, 1040 (Fla. 4th DCA I983), *pet. rev. denied*, 440 So. 2d 353 (Fla. 1983), the same argument Petitioner now makes was rejected, the court holding:

The parents argue that they never intended to release the School Board for any negligence occasioned by inept supervision of the crosswalk where the accident occurred. However, even if this be true, the language of the release is not ambiguous and does not permit such an interpretation. "When [the] language is clear and unambiguous, the courts cannot indulge in construction or interpretation of its plain meaning." Hurt v. Leatherby Insur-ance Co., 380 So. 2d 432, 433 (Fla. 1980), see also Boat Town U.S.A. v. Mercury Marine Division of Brunswick Corp., 364 So. 2d 15 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978). (footnote omitted).

The Agreement in this case releases each party from all rights, duties and obligations arising out of the marriage and also releases all claims of whatever nature each may have had against the other. The Agreement is clear and unambiguous, and as the trial court correctly held, "all claims" means just that.

C. No Holding Below That Unmatured Claims Barred By Release.

The trial court did not hold that the release barred unmatured 'fraud and breach of contract claims." The fraud claim based on the supposed furnishing of false financial affidavits was precluded by this Court's *Mendez-Perez* decision.

The breach of contract claim alleged that Respondent promised many things in addition to those promised in the Marital Settlement Agreement, and breached his extraneous oral premises. (R.29-31). These claims were precluded by the parol evidence rule. That rule precludes claims that a prior or contemporaneous oral agreement exists that directly contradicts the parties' written agreement. The instant Agreement provides in paragraph II(b) that:

b. Each understands and agrees that this Agreement constitutes the entire contract of the parties. It supersedes any prior understandings or agreements between them upon the subjects covered in this Agreement. There are no representations or warranties other than those set forth herein. (R.17).

Likewise, paragraph 12 provides:

[N]o oral or prior written matters extraneous to this Agreement shall have any force or effect whatsoever and the parties represent that no representations have been made by each to the other except as incorporated in this Agreement. No addendum, modification or waiver of any of the terms of this Agreement shall be effective unless in writing, signed by both parties. (R.I8).

In McComb v. Hygeia Coca-Cola Bottling Works, Inc., 188 So. 219 (Fla. 1939), plaintiff sued his former employer after settlement of his personal injury claim. The complaint alleged that in addition to the money received in the settlement, plaintiff was promised a

lifetime job but was later discharged. The release provided that the money paid was the "sole consideration" for the settlement. This Court affirmed dismissal of the complaint because: "[A] party cannot, either in law or equity, contradict or vary terms of his written unambiguous contract by showing that while he signed the same, there was an agreement resting in parol that he was not bound by the terms thereof." *Id.* at 222.

Likewise, in *Johnson v. Johnson*, 403 So. 2d 1388, 1390 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981), a former wife sued her former husband claiming he promised her a job in his medical office if she would sign the marital settlement agreement. Judge (now Justice) Grimes, speaking for the Second District, held the claim was barred by the parol evidence rule:

In the present case, the settlement agreement spelled out in detail Dr. Johnson's obligations to his wife. Therefore, the issue of whether Dr. Johnson was obligated to keep Mrs. Johnson on the payroll was necessarily within the scope of the written agreement. Since the written agreement did not express this obligation, the parol evidence rule barred any evidence that Dr. Johnson orally agreed to such an obligation. Id.

Accord Masvidal v. Ochoa, 505 So. 2d 555 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987).

Finally, to the extent that fraud in inducing the Marital Settlement Agreement by such oral promises is asserted, the claim is barred by the rule stated in *Linear Corp. v. Standard Hardware Co.*, 423 So. 2d 966, 968 (Fla. lst DCA 1982):

First, the testimony as to a contemporaneous oral agreement was not admissible. It did not fit under the exception for oral agreements which induce execution of the written agreement, because the alleged oral agreement related to the identical subject matter embodied in the written agreement and, in fact, directly contradicted an express provision of the written agreement, See E.J. Sparks Enterprises v. Christman, 95 Fla. 928, II7 So. 1388 (I928) and Johnson v. Johnson, 403 So. 2d I388 (Fla. 2d DCA I98I).

Cf., Grossman v. Banco Indus. de Venezuela, 534 So. 2d 773 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988).

Another bar to the "oral promises/fraud in the inducement claim" is the one-year provision in Rule I.540(b)(3). *Cf.*, *DeClaire*, 453 So. 2d 375. According to the complaint, the breaches started occurring immediately after the divorce. (R.29-30). Yet, Petitioner waited three years and three months, and filed suit only after receiving all the lump sum payments due under the Agreement.

<u>IV.</u>

CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that the decisions below should either be affirmed or the petition should be dismissed.